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THE ENDOWMENT FUND
At the heart of the Crop Trust’s work is the permanent, self-
sustaining endowment fund. Each year, a portion of the fund’s 
value is paid out to ensure that the crop diversity held in genebanks 
is conserved and maintained. The Crop Trust is working to reach 
the fund’s target size of USD 850 million. 
 
The endowment fund had a successful year in 2017 with its value 
rising from USD 188 million in 2016 to USD 285 million. This was 
GXH�WR�QHZ�FRQWULEXWLRQV�UHFHLYHG�IURP�GRQRUV�� WKH�ȴQDOL]DWLRQ�
of a concessional loan from the German Development Bank, KfW, 
and investment gains made on the capital markets. 

Investment gains, net of investment manager fees, amounted to 
USD 28.4 million during the year with an annual return of 17.4%. 
While this is an excellent investment return for the year, the 
objective for the Crop Trust endowment portfolio is that it is highly 
GLYHUVLȴHG� DQG� VWUXFWXUHG� IRU� WKH� ORQJ�WHUP� VR� WKDW� VKRUW�WHUP�
market dislocations, whether positive or negative, do not trigger 
structural changes to the asset allocation of the portfolio. Further 
donor pledges were received in 2017, which we expect to result 
in additional contributions during 2018.

The investment objectives and policies of the Crop Trust permit 
the annual withdrawal of up to 4% of the average market value of 
the endowment fund over the previous 12 quarters. In 2017, 3.6% 
(USD 6.7 million) was withdrawn from the endowment fund of 
which 96% was provided in long-term grants to the international 
genebanks of CGIAR. Combined with a bilateral contribution 
from GIZ, the total contribution to CGIAR amounted to USD 6.75 
million - up from USD 2.4 million in 2016. In 2018, this annual 
contribution to CGIAR will rise to USD 9 million.
 

RUNNING THE NUMBERS
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6LQFH������� WKH�&URS�7UXVW�KDV�EHHQ�DQ�RɝFLDO�VLJQDWRU\�WR�WKH�
United Nations Principles for Responsible Investment (UNPRI), 
an international framework for incorporating sustainability into 
investment decision-making.
 
A new, Executive Board-approved Responsible Investment Policy 
was developed and implemented in 2017, the purpose of which is 
to ensure the Crop Trust’s investment portfolio is aligned with its 
overall mission.
 

PROGRAM AND OPERATIONAL 
EXPENDITURE

In addition to building up the Endowment Fund, the Crop Trust 
supports the world’s most important collections of crop diversity 
with annual funding. This includes time-bound projects and long-
term programs targeted at conserving crops in genebanks.
 
&RVW�H΍HFWLYHQHVV�LV�YLWDO�LQ�RUGHU�IRU�WKH�&URS�7UXVW�WR�FRQWLQXH�
to earn the trust of its donors. In 2017, the Crop Trust secretariat 

incurred expenditures for management and general services of 
USD 1.4 million, or 3.9% of total direct expenditures of the Crop 
Trust.  Fundraising expenditure amounted to USD 0.35 million 
or 0.9% of total direct expenditure.  This represents a reduction  
in overall operational expenditure from 5.3% in 2016 to 4.8% in 
2017.

FINANCIAL AUDIT AND 
ADOPTION OF IFRS
In 2017, PricewaterhouseCoopers performed an external audit 
RI�WKH�&URS�7UXVWȇV�ȴQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV� IRU�WKH�ȴIWK�FRQVHFXWLYH�
year.  In conjunction with the regular audit procedures, PwC were 
engaged by the Crop Trust to provide advice and audit services 
IRU�WKH�FRQYHUVLRQ�RI�WKH�ȴQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�WR�IXOO�ΖQWHUQDWLRQDO�
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for the year to 31 December 
2017. 
 
7KLV� KDV� UHVXOWHG� LQ� D� VLJQLȴFDQW� FKDQJH� WR� WKH� VWUXFWXUH��
WHUPLQRORJ\��GLVFORVXUHV�DQG� IRUPDW�RI� WKH�ȴQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��
3Z&�KDV�LVVXHG�DQ�XQTXDOLȴHG�DXGLW�RSLQLRQ�ZLWK�QR�PDQDJHPHQW�
OHWWHU�SRLQWV�LGHQWLȴHG��DV�LQ�SULRU�\HDUV�
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED - 31 DECEMBER 2017

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
REPORT
To the Global Crop Diversity Trust, Bonn

We have audited the annual financial state-
ments of Global Crop Diversity Trust, Bonn, 
(“Crop Trust”) which comprise the state-
ment of financial position as at December 
31, 2017, and the statement of activity and 

other comprehensive income, statement of changes in net 
assets and statement of cash flows for the year then end-
ed, and notes to the annual financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

ΖQ� RXU� RSLQLRQ�� WKH� DFFRPSDQ\LQJ� DQQXDO� ȴQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV�
SUHVHQW� IDLUO\�� LQ� DOO� PDWHULDO� UHVSHFWV�� WKH� ȴQDQFLDO� SRVLWLRQ� RI�
the Global Crop Diversity Trust as at December 31, 2017, and its 
ȴQDQFLDO�SHUIRUPDQFH�DQG�LWV�FDVK�ȵRZV�IRU�WKH�\HDU�WKHQ�HQGHG�
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs), as issued by the IASB.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Annual Financial Statements” section of our 
report. We are independent of the Crop Trust in accordance with 
the ethical requirements of the German professional provisions 
WKDW�DUH�UHOHYDQW�WR�RXU�DXGLW�RI�WKH�DQQXDO�ȴQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�
LQ�*HUPDQ\��DQG�ZH�KDYH�IXOȴOOHG�RXU�RWKHU�HWKLFDO�UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV�
in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
DXGLW�HYLGHQFH�ZH�KDYH�REWDLQHG�LV�VXɝFLHQW�DQG�DSSURSULDWH�WR�
provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Annual Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
SUHVHQWDWLRQ� RI� WKH� DQQXDO� ȴQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV� LQ� DFFRUGDQFH�
with IFRSs, as issued by the IASB, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
RI� DQQXDO� ȴQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV� WKDW� DUH� IUHH� IURP� PDWHULDO�
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

ΖQ� SUHSDULQJ� WKH� DQQXDO� ȴQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV�� PDQDJHPHQW� LV�
responsible for assessing the Crop Trust’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the Crop Trust or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing 
WKH�&URS�7UXVWȇV�ȴQDQFLDO�UHSRUWLQJ�SURFHVV�

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Annual 
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
WKH�DQQXDO�ȴQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�DV�D�ZKROH�DUH�IUHH�IURP�PDWHULDO�
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
DJJUHJDWH�� WKH\� FRXOG� UHDVRQDEO\� EH� H[SHFWHG� WR� LQȵXHQFH� WKH�
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual 
ȴQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
WKH� DQQXDO� ȴQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV�� ZKHWKHU� GXH� WR� IUDXG� RU�
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
WKRVH� ULVNV�� DQG�REWDLQ�DXGLW�HYLGHQFH� WKDW� LV� VXɝFLHQW�DQG�
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
DQ�RSLQLRQ�RQ� WKH�H΍HFWLYHQHVV�RI� WKH�&URS�7UXVWȇV� LQWHUQDO�
controls.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

• &RQFOXGH�RQ�WKH�DSSURSULDWHQHVV�RI�PDQDJHPHQWȇV�XVH�RI�WKH�
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
UHODWHG�WR�HYHQWV�RU�FRQGLWLRQV�WKDW�PD\�FDVW�VLJQLȴFDQW�GRXEW�
RQ�WKH�&URS�7UXVWȇV�DELOLW\�WR�FRQWLQXH�DV�D�JRLQJ�FRQFHUQ��ΖI�ZH�
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
GUDZ�DWWHQWLRQ�LQ�RXU�DXGLWRUȇV�UHSRUW�WR�WKH�UHODWHG�GLVFORVXUHV�
LQ�WKH�DQQXDO�ȴQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�RU��LI�VXFK�GLVFORVXUHV�DUH�
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
RQ�WKH�DXGLW�HYLGHQFH�REWDLQHG�XS�WR�WKH�GDWH�RI�RXU�DXGLWRUȇV�
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
&URS�7UXVW�WR�FHDVH�WR�FRQWLQXH�DV�D�JRLQJ�FRQFHUQ�

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 
WKH� DQQXDO� ȴQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV�� LQFOXGLQJ� WKH� GLVFORVXUHV��
DQG�ZKHWKHU� WKH�DQQXDO� ȴQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV� UHSUHVHQW� WKH�
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
DQG�VLJQLȴFDQW�DXGLW�ȴQGLQJV��LQFOXGLQJ�DQ\�VLJQLȴFDQW�GHȴFLHQFLHV�
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

&RORJQH��0D\��������

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Hans-Peter Kreibich  ppa. Thorsten Weigand
Wirtschaftsprüfer  Wirtschaftsprüfer

$�FDVVDYD�IDUPHU�Q�6ɠQ�/D�3URYLQFH��
9LHWQDP��
3KRWR��*HWW\�ΖPDJHV�5HSRUWDJH�
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
)25�7+(�<($5�(1'('�$6�$7����'(&(0%(5�����
�$//�)Ζ*85(6�(;35(66('�Ζ1�7+286$1'6�2)�86�'2//$56�

NOTES 2017
USD’000

2016 
USD’000

AS AT 1 JAN 2016
USD’000 

ASSETS
  CURRENT ASSETS

Cash & cash equivalents 4 15,251 10,835 12,187
Receivable

Donor
Other

5
3,122

92
9

57
5,127

20
Prepaid expenses 6 943 778 191
Financial assets 16 4,250 - -

Total Current Assets 23,658 11,679 17,525

NON CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant & equipment 7 18 - -
Intangible Assets 8 - 23 46
Financial Assets 16 285,025 187,963 157,402

Total Non Current Assets 285,043 187,986 157,448
TOTAL ASSETS 308,701 199,665 174,973

LIABILITIES 
  CURRENT LIABILITIES

Payable
Grants in advance
Other

9
11,490

315
3,090

293
7,126

158
Deferred Income 10 7,970 2,420 4,426
Accruals 11 258 159 155
Provisions 12 20 69 81

Total Current Liabilities 20,053 6,031 11,946
NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions 12 209 111 92
Borrowings 13 60,040 - -

Total non-current liabilities 60,249 111 92
TOTAL LIABILITIES 80,302 6,142 12,038

NET ASSETS 15
Unrestricted 5,572 5,560 5,559
Permanently restricted net assets 222,827 187,963 157,376

Total net assets 228,399 193,523 162,935

TOTAL LIABILITIES & NET ASSETS 308,701 199,665 174,973



FINANCIAL

05  FINANCIAL 57

05

  CROP TRUST 2017 ANNUAL REPORT



05  FINANCIAL58   CROP TRUST 2017 ANNUAL REPORT

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITY & OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
)25�7+(�<($5�(1'('�$6�$7����'(&(0%(5�����
�$//�)Ζ*85(6�(;35(66('�Ζ1�7+286$1'6�2)�86�'2//$56�

2017 2016

NOTES UNRESTRICTED
TEMPORARY 
RESTRICTED

PERMANENTLY 
RESTRICTED TOTAL UNRESTRICTED TEMPORARY RESTRICTED PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED TOTAL

USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000

Revenue and gains ��b

*UDQW�5HYHQXHb 1,475 30,225 31,700 839 30,189 - 31,028
Contribution to 
Endowment Fund

- - 13,093 13,093 - - 23,974 23,974

Contribution to Loan 
Interest

- - 104 104 - - - -

Other Revenue 13 - - 13 605 - - 605
Other Income and gains 151 - - 151 67 - - 67

Total revenue and gains 1,639 30,225 13,197 45,061 1,511 30,189 23,974 55,674

Expenses and losses 20

Program direct expenses - (30,225) (6,532) (36,757) - (30,189) (2,256) (32,445)
Management and general 
expenses

(1,274) - (150) (1,424) (993) - (194) (1,187)

Fundraising expenses (353) - - (353) (517) - - (517)
Total expenses and 
losses

(1,627) (30,225) (6,682) (38,534) (1,510) (30,189) (2,450) (34,149)

Finance Income and 
Expenditure 21b

Net gain on endowment 
fund 

- - 29,651 29,651 - - 10,193 10,193

FX revaluation gains - - 1,967 1,967 - - - -
FX revaluation (loss) - - (1,993) (1,993) - - - -
Investement Management 
Fees

- - (1,172) (1,172) - - (1,130) (1,130)

Interest on loan - - (104) (104) - - - -
Net Finance Income - - 28,349 28,349 - -- 9,063 9,063

b1(7�Ζ1&20( 12 - 34,864 34,876 1 - 30,587b 30,588
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

12 - 34,864 34,876 1 - 30,587 30,588
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2017 2016

NOTES UNRESTRICTED
TEMPORARY 
RESTRICTED

PERMANENTLY 
RESTRICTED TOTAL UNRESTRICTED TEMPORARY RESTRICTED PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED TOTAL

USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000

Revenue and gains ��b

*UDQW�5HYHQXHb 1,475 30,225 31,700 839 30,189 - 31,028
Contribution to 
Endowment Fund

- - 13,093 13,093 - - 23,974 23,974

Contribution to Loan 
Interest

- - 104 104 - - - -

Other Revenue 13 - - 13 605 - - 605
Other Income and gains 151 - - 151 67 - - 67

Total revenue and gains 1,639 30,225 13,197 45,061 1,511 30,189 23,974 55,674

Expenses and losses 20

Program direct expenses - (30,225) (6,532) (36,757) - (30,189) (2,256) (32,445)
Management and general 
expenses

(1,274) - (150) (1,424) (993) - (194) (1,187)

Fundraising expenses (353) - - (353) (517) - - (517)
Total expenses and 
losses

(1,627) (30,225) (6,682) (38,534) (1,510) (30,189) (2,450) (34,149)

Finance Income and 
Expenditure 21b

Net gain on endowment 
fund 

- - 29,651 29,651 - - 10,193 10,193

FX revaluation gains - - 1,967 1,967 - - - -
FX revaluation (loss) - - (1,993) (1,993) - - - -
Investement Management 
Fees

- - (1,172) (1,172) - - (1,130) (1,130)

Interest on loan - - (104) (104) - - - -
Net Finance Income - - 28,349 28,349 - -- 9,063 9,063

b1(7�Ζ1&20( 12 - 34,864 34,876 1 - 30,587b 30,588
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

12 - 34,864 34,876 1 - 30,587 30,588
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
)25�7+(�<($5�(1'('�$6�$7����'(&(0%(5�����
�$//�)Ζ*85(6�(;35(66('�Ζ1�7+286$1'6�2)�86�'2//$56�

UNRESTRICTED
PERMANENTLY

RESTRICTED TOTAL
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Balance as at 1 January 2016 5,559 157,376 162,935

Total comprehensive income for the period 1 30,587 30,588

Balance as at 31 December 2016 5,560 187,963 193,523

Total comprehensive income for the period 12 34,864 34,876

BALANCE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 5,572 222,827 228,399
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STATEMENT OF CASHFLOW
)25�7+(�<($5�(1'('�$6�$7����'(&(0%(5�����
�$//�)Ζ*85(6�(;35(66('�Ζ1�7+286$1'6�2)�86�'2//$56�

 2017 2016 
  USD'000  USD’000 

�&DVKȵRZV�XVHG�LQ�RSHUDWLQJ�DFWLYLWLHV   

Total comprehensive income for the period 34,876 30,588
Adjustments to reconcile net cash provided by 
operating activities:
Depreciation 23 23 
Amortization of intangibles - -
Other non-cash Transactions (29,651) (10,193)
Decrease/(increase) in assets:

Receivable (3,148) 5,081
Prepaid expenses (165) (587)
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Payable 8,422 (3,901)
Deferred Income 5,550 (2,006)
Accruals 99 4
Provisions 49 7
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 16,055 19,016

&DVK�ȵRZV�IURP�LQYHVWPHQW�DFWLYLWLHV�
Acquisition of equipment (18)
Purchase of Investments (87,282) (151,554)
Proceeds from maturity and sale of investments 17,588 131,186
Net cash provided by (used in) investment 
activities (69,712) (20,368)

&DVK�ȵRZV�IURP�ȴQDQFLQJ�DFWLYLWLHV

&DVK�LQȵRZ�IURP��ERUURZLQJ 58,047 -
1HW�FDVK��RXWȵRZ��IURP�ȴQDQFLQJ�DFWLYLWLHV 58,047 -

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH 4,390 (1,352)
Change in cash and cash equivalents due to changes in 
exchange rates 26 -

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
period 10,835 12,187

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF 
THE PERIOD 15,251 10,835
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS  
)25�7+(�<($5�(1'('����'(&(0%(5�����
�([SUHVVHG�LQ�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�GROODUV�XQOHVV�RWKHUZLVH�VWDWHG�

  
1. STATEMENT OF PURPOSE  
The Global Crop Diversity Trust (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Crop Trust” or the “Organization”) was established in October 
2004 as an independent organization under international 
law. This status was conferred on it through the signing of an 
(VWDEOLVKPHQW�$JUHHPHQW�E\�VHYHQ�VWDWHV�IURP�ȴYH�RI�WKH�UHJLRQV�
referred to in the basic texts of the United Nations Food and 
Agriculture Organization. The international status of the Crop 
Trust is conferred under an Establishment Agreement, which has 
been signed by 28 countries.

As an independent international organization, the Crop Trust 
does not have any shareholders or parent. It is governed by a 
Executive Board. The headquarter of the Crop Trust is located at 
Platz der Vereinten Nationen 7, 53113 Bonn, Germany. 

7KHVH�ȴQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�KDYH�EHHQ�UHYLHZHG�E\�WKH�)LQDQFH�	�
Investment Committee and were authorized for issue on  06 May 
2018 by the Executive Board of the Crop Trust.

Mission

The mission of the Crop Trust is to ensure the conservation and 
availability of crop diversity for food security worldwide. Crop 
diversity is central to food security. It underpins today’s production 
and provides the raw material needed for ensuring continuing 
supplies tomorrow, in the face of a rapidly changing world.

Crop collections require constant maintenance, and even brief 
disruptions or variations in funding can leave material at risk of 
permanent loss. The conservation of crop diversity in genebanks 
is a long-term task. Only stable, predictable support from an 
endowment fund can guarantee a global system of conservation 
for a shared resource that is too important for anything less than 
perpetual care.

Donors to the Crop Trust include governments from developing 

and developed countries, foundations, the private sector and 
individuals. Together donors have pledged over USD 450m to the 
Crop Trust’s work as at 31 December 2017.

The Crop Trust is building an endowment fund, the recurring 
LQFRPH�IURP�ZKLFK�ZLOO�EH�VXɝFLHQW�WR�JXDUDQWHH�WKH�FRQVHUYDWLRQ�
and the ready availability of the biological foundation of all major 
agricultural crops, forever. It currently has USD 254,670k paid 
in (including a concessional loan) from a wide array of donors 
with a non-current endowment fund value of approximately 
USD 285,025k as at 31 December 2017. 95% of the endowment 
contributions received have been provided by Governments.

To date approximately USD 26,496k has been allocated by the 
Crop Trust to long-term grants with the CGIAR international 
research centers that hold the international crop collections. The 
Crop Trust also contributes to the operational costs associated 
with the running the Svalbard Global Seed Vault, in conjunction 
with our partners (the Government of Norway and the Nordic 
Gene Resource Centre). The support provided by the endowment 
fund comes solely from investment income earned. The actual 
contributions invested in the endowment funds are not drawn 
RQ��7KH�IXQG�DOORZV�WKH�&URS�7UXVW�WR�IXOȴOO�LWV�SXUSRVH��WR�FUHDWH�D�
permanent legacy of support for the key international collections 
of critical importance to our food supply.

3ULQFLSDO�$FWLYLWLHV�RI�WKH�&URS�7UXVW�ΖQFOXGH�

1. Rescuing the seeds in endangered national crop collections;
2. Funding the ongoing maintenance of vital global crop 

collections;
3. Documenting the characteristics of conserved seeds so that 

collections are useful for plant breeders;
4. Sponsoring and improving global information systems for 

managing and sharing crop genetic data, massively enhancing 
access, and therefore options, for plant breeders everywhere. 
Part of this work is being done in collaboration with USDA;

5. Funding of the ultimate safety back-up facility - the Svalbard 
Global Seed Vault deep in the Arctic permafrost - in which 
currently 890,886 duplicates of the world’s seed collections are 
being stored, originating from every country on earth.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
%DVLV�RI�3UHSDUDWLRQ�

7KH� ȴQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV� RI� WKH� &URS� 7UXVW� DUH� SUHSDUHG� LQ�
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB).

7KHVH�DUH�WKH�ȴUVW�ȴQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�WKDW�KDYH�EHHQ�SUHSDUHG�
in accordance with IFRS. As the Crop Trust was not required to 
SUHSDUH�ȴQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�LQ�SUHYLRXV�\HDUV�QR�UHFRQFLOLDWLRQV�
WR�SUHYLRXV�*$$3�ȴQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�DUH�SUHVHQWHG�

7KH�ȴQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�KDYH�EHHQ�SUHSDUHG�RQ�D�KLVWRULFDO�FRVW�
basis except for investments that have been measured at fair 
YDOXH�� 7KH� ȴQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV� DUH� SUHVHQWHG� LQ� WKRXVDQGV� RI�
US dollars (USD ‘000) and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousands, except when otherwise indicated.

In accordance with Article 9 of the Headquarters Agreement, the 
Crop Trust is tax exempt.

7KH�VLJQLȴFDQW�DFFRXQWLQJ�SROLFLHV�IROORZHG�DUH�GHVFULEHG�EHORZ�

2.1 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of contributions and grants 
in advance received together with related interest earned. 
As contributions for the endowment fund are permanently 
restricted, cash and cash equivalents at the year-end do not 
include contributions to the endowment fund. These are reported 
DV��ȴQDQFLDO�DVVHWV��

Cash comprises of cash on hand, petty cash funds, and currencies 
awaiting deposit as well as local or foreign currency deposits 
in banks which are immediately available for use in current 
operations. 

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that 
are both readily convertible to known amounts of cash, and when 
QHDULQJ�WKHLU�PDWXULW\�GDWH�WKHUH�LV�LQVLJQLȴFDQW�ULVN�RI�FKDQJHV�LQ�
value arising from changes in interest rates. In general terms, only 
investments with original maturities of three months or less will 
TXDOLI\�XQGHU�WKLV�GHȴQLWLRQ�

2.2 RECEIVABLE
Donors

These are claims held against debtors for the future receipt of 
money. Receivables due from donors can arise from unrestricted, 
temporarily restricted and permanently restricted grants that 
have been agreed between the Crop Trust and the Donor. 
Receivables relating to unrestricted, temporarily restricted and 
permanently restricted grants are recorded once the donor 
signed an irrevocable agreement to provide the grant to the Crop 
Trust. Receivables are carried at the lower of amortized cost or 
WKH�HVWLPDWHG�IXWXUH�FDVK�ȵRZV�

The Crop Trust assesses whether there is objective evidence that 
the receivables are impaired at the end of each reporting period. 

The allowance method is used to provide for doubtful accounts 
and is calculated as an amount equal to the total receivables 
shown, or reasonably estimated to be doubtful of collection. 
The amount in the allowance is based on past experience and 
on a continuous review of receivable reports and other relevant 
factors. When an account receivable is deemed doubtful of 
collection, an allowance is provided during the year the receivable 
is deemed doubtful. Any receivable, or portion of receivable 
MXGJHG�WR�EH�XQ�FROOHFWLEOH�LV�ZULWWHQ�R΍��:ULWH�R΍V�RI�UHFHLYDEOHV�
DUH�GRQH�YLD�DOORZDQFH�IRU�GRXEWIXO�DFFRXQWV�DIWHU�DOO�H΍RUWV�WR�
collect have been exhausted.

The Crop Trust did not have any doubtful accounts during the 
year.

2.3 PREPAID EXPENSES
Prepaid expenses are payments made in advance for goods 
and services related to project costs that have not yet occurred. 
The prepayment is released once the project costs have been 
expensed. If project costs are not incurred in the future, the 
prepaid expenses are subject to repayment. Other prepaid 
expenses also include licenses, subscriptions and insurance.   

2.4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2ɝFH� HTXLSPHQW� DQG� IXUQLWXUH� DUH� UHFRUGHG� DW� FRVW� DQG�
depreciated over the estimated useful life of the respective asset 
�WKUHH� WR� ȴYH� \HDUV��� 7KH� VWUDLJKW�OLQH�PHWKRG� LV� DSSOLHG�ZKHUH�
the asset has an original cost greater than USD 2k. Items with 
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an original cost lower than this amount are charged directly to 
operating expenses in the Statement of Activities in the period in 
which they are incurred.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognized in the 
Statement of Activities as management and general expenses.

2.5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
$Q�LQWDQJLEOH�DVVHW�LV�DQ�LGHQWLȴDEOH�QRQ�PRQHWDU\�DVVHW�ZLWKRXW�
physical substance. Intangible assets are recognized if, and 
RQO\� LI� LW� LV�SUREDEOH� WKDW� WKH�H[SHFWHG� IXWXUH�HFRQRPLF�EHQHȴW�
DWWULEXWDEOH�WR�WKH�DVVHW�ZLOO�ȵRZ�WR�WKH�&URS�7UXVW�DQG�WKH�FRVW�RI�
the asset can be measured reliably.

An intangible asset is measured initially at cost. The cost of the 
separately acquired intangible asset comprises a) its purchase 
price and non-refundable purchase taxes and b) any direct 
attributable cost of preparing the asset for its intended use. The 
Crop Trust has no internally generated intangible assets only 
acquired intangible assets.

Intangible assets are amortized over the estimated useful life 
of the respective asset,  between 3 to 5 years, on a straight line 
basis. Amortization begins when the asset is available for use. 
Amortization ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is 
FODVVLȴHG�DV�KHOG�IRU�VDOH��DQG�WKH�GDWH�WKH�DVVHW�LV�GHUHFRJQL]HG��
The amortization charge for each period is recognized in the 
Statement of Activities as management and general expenses. 
The amortization period and the amortization method for 
LQWDQJLEOH�DVVHWV�ZLWK�D�ȴQLWH�XVHIXO� OLIH�DUH�UHYLHZHG�DW� OHDVW�DW�
HDFK�ȴQDQFLDO�\HDU�HQG��

The cost of the website development is recognized as an 
intangible asset in 2014. This asset is amortized over a three year 
estimated economic useful life commencing in January 2015 and 
concluding in 2017.

2.6 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Financial Assets relate primarily to a permanently restricted 
endowment fund established by the Crop Trust to support the 
H΍HFWLYH�FRQVHUYDWLRQ�DQG�UHDG\�DYDLODELOLW\�RI�WKH�ELRORJLFDO�EDVLV�
of agriculture. The endowment fund is not a separate investment 
vehicle, it is a name used for diverse investments which are 

administered by two investment managers on behalf of the Crop 
Trust.  

The endowment fund investments are recorded at fair value. 
The fair value option was exercised due to applied fair value 
PDQDJHPHQW� DSSURDFK�� 7KH� IDLU� YDOXH� RI� ȴQDQFLDO� DVVHWV� LV�
determined with reference to quoted market prices, observable 
market data and unobservable valuation inputs. Regular way 
SXUFKDVHV� DQG� VDOHV� RI� ȴQDQFLDO� DVVHWV� DUH� UHFRJQL]HG� DQG�
derecognized using trade date accounting. Changes in the market 
YDOXH�RI�WKH�ȴQDQFLDO�DVVHWV�DUH�UHSRUWHG�DV�ȴQDQFH�LQFRPH�LQ�WKH�
Statement of Activities.

Finanial liabilities are borrowing, payables and accruals. 
%RUURZLQJV�DUH�FODVVLȴHG�DV�FXUUHQW� OLDELOLWLHV�ZLWK�PDWXULWLHV�RI�
more than 3 months but not exceeding one year. Liabilities with 
the purpose of keeping them for more than one year from their 
DFTXLVLWLRQ�GDWH�DUH�WR�EH�FODVVLȴHG�DV�ORQJ�WHUP�ERUURZLQJV��

2.7 PAYABLES
7KHVH�DUH�WKH�DJJUHJDWH�DPRXQW�RI�VKRUW�WHUP�OLDELOLWLHV�UHȵHFWLQJ�
amounts owed in respect of goods, services and general 
expenditure relating to the operational activities of the Crop 
Trust received during the year, grants in advance for the year and 
grants payable. 

Payables are split into grants in advance and other payables. 
Grants in advance represent amounts that have been expensed 
by partners and are included as program expenditure in the 
Statement of Activities, however, the funds in this case have 
been received from the donors but have not yet been paid to 
the partners. Other payables include liabilties due to supplier for 
services to the Crop Trust. 

Paybles are stated at amortized costs.

2.8 DEFERRED INCOME
According to IAS 20.12 the deferred income represents amounts 
received from the Donor for which the related expense has not 
yet been incurred. Once the funds are expensed the deferred 
income is reduced with a corresponding recognition of revenue 
in the Statement of Activity. 
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The deferred income includes other income receivable that has 
not yet been expensed  and grants towards loan interest received 
that have not been expensed. 

2.9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
7KH�&URS�7UXVW�SURYLGHV�WKH�IROORZLQJ�HPSOR\HH�EHQHȴWV�

1. 6KRUW� 7HUP� REOLJDWLRQ� �� UHJXODU� PRQWKO\� EHQHȴWV� �ZDJHV��
salaries, private medical), compensated absences (annual, 
PHGLFDO�� PDWHUQLW\�SDWHUQLW\� OHDYH�� DQG� RWKHU� EHQHȴWV�
(Education grant, Relocation grant - subject to terms and 
conditions) 

2. 3RVW�HPSOR\PHQW�EHQHȴWV�UHODWH�WR�UHSDWULDWLRQ�JUDQWV�DQG�
pension contributions; 

3. 2WKHU� /RQJ� 7HUP� HPSOR\HH� EHQHȴWV� LQFOXGH� DFFXPXODWHG�
leave payable on separation; and 

4. 7HUPLQDWLRQ� EHQHȴWV� LQFOXGH� LQGHPQLWLHV� IRU� YROXQWDU\�
redundancy payable once a plan has been formally approved.   

(PSOR\HH�EHQHȴWV�DUH�XVXDOO\�H[SHQVHG�DQG� UHFRJQL]HG� LQ� WKH�
Statement of Activities in the period in which they occur. 

Leave obligations cover the Crop Trust’s liability for annual leave. 
In accordance with the Crop Trust’s Executive Board approved 
Personnel Policies & Procedures Manual (PPPM) annual leave 
earned in any calendar year may be accumulated; provided that 
the total amount of accrued annual leave to be carried forward 
at the end of the leave year shall not exceed 30 working days. 
Days over 30 are lost as of 31 December of each year unless the 
Executive Director approves retention because taking leave was 
not possible due to exigencies of service. Therefore all current 
annual leave obligations are expected to be settled within the 
next 12 months in the normal course of business.

7KH�&URS�7UXVW�KDV�HVWDEOLVKHG�D�GHȴQHG�FRQWULEXWLRQ�UHWLUHPHQW�
fund with Zurich. For all regular employees, and in accordance 
with the PPPM, the Crop Trust shall make a contribution to the 
fund of up to 20% of the employee’s base salary. The employee 
may make additional voluntary contributions to the retirement 
plan. The Crop Trust has no further payment obligations once 
the contributions have been paid.  The employer contributions 
DUH�UHFRJQL]HG�DV�DQ�HPSOR\HH�EHQHȴW�DQG�DUH�UHFRUGHG�DV�DQ�
expense in the Statement of Activities when they fall due. 

2.10 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
Provisions are recognized when: 1) the Crop Trust has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 2) it is 
SUREDEOH��L�H��PRUH�OLNHO\�WKDQ�QRW��WKDW�DQ�RXWȵRZ�RI�UHVRXUFHV�
HPERG\LQJ� HFRQRPLF� EHQHȴWV� ZLOO� EH� UHTXLUHG� WR� VHWWOH� WKH�
obligation, and 3) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. When the Crop Trust expects some or all of a 
provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognized as 
a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is certain. The 
expense relating to a provision is presented in the Statement of 
Activity net of any reimbursement. 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from 
SDVW�HYHQWV�DQG�ZKRVH�H[LVWHQFH�ZLOO�EH�FRQȴUPHG�RQO\�E\� WKH�
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the Crop Trust; or a present 
obligation that arises from past events but is not recognized 
EHFDXVH�� L�� LW� LV� QRW� SUREDEOH� WKDW� DQ� RXWȵRZ� RI� UHVRXUFHV�
HPERG\LQJ� HFRQRPLF� EHQHȴWV� ZLOO� EH� UHTXLUHG� WR� VHWWOH� WKH�
obligation; or ii) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
ZLWK�VXɝFLHQW�UHOLDELOLW\��

Included under provisions is an obligation to provide post-
HPSOR\PHQW� EHQHȴWV� WR� HPSOR\HHV� IRU� UHSDWULDWLRQ� H[SHQVHV�
upon separation from the Crop Trust. In accordance with the 
PPPM, for professional regular employees, the Crop Trust will 
SD\�WKH�FRVW�RI�WUDQVSRUWDWLRQ�RI�SHUVRQDO�H΍HFWV�DQG�KRXVHKROG�
goods from the employee’s residence in Bonn, Germany or other 
authorized location to the employee’s authorized home location 
or other authorized location.

2.11 NET ASSETS
Unrestricted net assets consist of contributions received from 
unconditional transfers of cash or other assets to the Crop Trust 
as well as other incomes. Unrestricted expenditure includes 
management and general expenditure not directly charged to 
projects and fundraising expenditure.

Permanently restricted net assets consist of contributions 
received from permanently restricted transfers of cash or other 
assets to the Crop Trust as well as income from the investment 
of such funds via the endowment fund. In accordance with the 
Investment Objectives and Policies approved by the Executive 
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Board of the Crop Trust, up to 4% of the average market value 
of the endowment fund over the previous twelve quarters may 
be withdrawn to cover program and operational expenses of 
the Crop Trust. Funds withdrawn are reported as permanently 
restricted expenses in the Statement of Activities and split 
between program expenditure and management and general 
expenditure as appropriate.  

2.12 Revenue Recognition
Contributions to the Crop Trust fall into three categories:

1. Unrestricted revenue and gains - revenue not subject to 
donor - imposed restrictions.

2. Temporarily restricted revenue and gains - revenue subject 
to donor - imposed time or use restrictions. 

3. Permanently restricted revenue and gains - revenue is 
VXEMHFW�WR�GRQRU���LPSRVHG�UHVWULFWLRQV�RU�VSHFLȴF�FRQGLWLRQV�
that the funds be invested in perpetuity. 

Unrestricted revenue and gains: 

Unconditional transfers of cash or other assets to the Crop Trust.

Unrestricted grant revenue consists of contributions  received 
from unconditional transfer of cash or other assets to the Crop 
Trust as well as other income. Those grants are recorded in 
full upon receipt of funds as contribution income in the period 
received in accordance with IAS 20 para. 20.

Other revenue consists of website donations whereas other 
income and gains include charges for services provided etc. 
Those two revenue streams are only recognized if they can 
EH� GHWHUPLQHG� UHOLDEO\� DQG� LW� LV� VXɝFLHQWO\� SUREDEOH� WKDW� WKH�
HFRQRPLF�EHQHȴW�ZLOO�ȵRZ�WR�WKH�&URS�7UXVW�

Temporarily restricted revenue and gains: 

Transfer of resources to the Crop Trust for the implementation of 
VSHFLȴHG�SURMHFWV�

8SRQ�UHFHLSW�RI�FDVK�WKH� IXQGV�DUH�GHIHUUHG�XQWLO� WKH�VSHFLȴHG�
project expense has been incurred (deferred income). When the 
Crop Trust recognizes the expense for the related project costs, 

the grant is recognized as income (IAS 20 para. 12). Unused funds 
at the end of a project are repaid to the donor. 

Temporarily restricted grants are recorded as income based 
XSRQ�VDWLVIDFWLRQ�RI�UHVWULFWLRQV��5HVWULFWLRQV�DUH�GHHPHG�VDWLVȴHG�
upon expenditure of project costs for which contributions have 
been pledged based on the terms of the underlying contracts and 
additional agreements. 

Permanently restricted revenue and gains: 

At inception the Crop Trust was granted a non-reimbursable 
endowment fund. The initial contribution and subsequent 
contributions are recognized as income in the period received 
(IAS 20 para. 20). The investment returns on the endowment fund 
are recognized in accordance with IAS 39  in the Statement of 
Activities. 

2.13 Expenses and Losses
The activities of the Crop Trust have been summarized on a 
functional basis in the Statement of Activities. The costs have been 
allocated between program direct expenses (i.e. goods or services 
GLVWULEXWHG�WR�VWDNHKROGHUV�WKDW�IXOȴOO�WKH�SXUSRVH�RU�PLVVLRQ�IRU�
which the organization exists), management and general expenses 
(i.e. all activities other than program expenditure and fundraising 
which are indirectly related to the purposes for which the 
organization exists but necessary for its conduct) and fundraising 
H[SHQVHV��L�H��VDODULHV�RU�VHUYLFHV�VSHFLȴFDOO\�UHODWHG�WR�IXQGUDLVLQJ�
activities). Expenses are allocated based on whether the expense 
is unrestricted, temporarily restricted or permanently restricted. 
Unrestricted expenses represent administrative and indirect 
costs not charged to projects or permanently restricted assets. 
Temporarily restricted expenses are those expenses charged as 
direct costs to projects. Permanently restricted costs are primarily 
amounts provided to centers to cover the routine operations of 
the genebanks and investment management fees.

Personnel expenses consist of salaries and other personnel 
UHODWHG�FRVWV� IRU�&URS�7UXVW�VWD΍�DQG�KDYH�EHHQ�DOORFDWHG�RQ�D�
functional basis.

Expenses are recorded on an accrual basis in the Statement of 
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Activities in the period in which the cost is incurred.

2.14 Foreign Currency Transactions
The Crop Trust conducts its operations in several currencies and 
maintains its accounting records in United States dollars (USD). 
The Crop Trust Financial Statements are prepared in USD, which 
is also the functional currency. 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency using the UN monthly exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are 
re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the 
Statement of Activities. The average rate of exchange for 2017 
is 0.891 (USD/EUR) and the year-end exchange rate as at 31 
December 2017 is 0.837 (USD/EUR).

2.15 Management Estimates
Preparing the Crop Trust’s Financial Statements requires 
Management to make judgments, estimates, and assumptions 
WKDW�D΍HFW�WKH�UHSRUWHG�DPRXQWV�RI�UHYHQXHV��H[SHQVHV��DVVHWV��
and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the 
end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these 
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability in future 
periods.

The level of program expenditure recorded in the Statement of 
Activities includes information provided by partners up to the 
time of completion of the Crop Trust’s Financial Statements. In 
instances where there is no complete information from partners, 
management shall use judgment in estimating total program 
expenditure that results in information that is reliable (in that the 
ȴQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV� UHSUHVHQW� IDLWKIXOO\� WKH� ȴQDQFLDO� SRVLWLRQ��
ȴQDQFLDO�SHUIRUPDQFH��DQG�FDVK�ȵRZV�RI�WKH�&URS�7UXVW���UHȵHFW�
the economic substance of transactions, other events and 
conditions, and not merely the legal form; are neutral (i.e. free 

from bias) and are prudent. Management’s estimate of total 
program expenditure will be based on a signed contract and 
agreed budget with the partner.

Management has used judgement and has decided that this 
policy is preferable, because it results in the best estimate of 
expenditure incurred by partners based on the signed contracts 
DQG�DJUHHG�EXGJHW��PDNLQJ�WKH�HQWLW\ȇV�ȴQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQW�PRUH�
UHOLDEOH�DV�LW�UHȵHFWV�D�PRUH�SUXGHQW�OHYHO�RI�H[SHQGLWXUH�

3. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
IAS10 Events After the Reporting Period contains requirements 
for events after the end of the reporting period which should 
EH� DGMXVWHG� LQ� WKH� ȴQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV�� $GMXVWLQJ� HYHQWV� DUH�
those providing evidence of conditions existing at the end of the 
reporting period, whereas non-adjusting events are indicative 
of conditions arising after the reporting period (the latter being 
disclosed where material).

The Organization has evaluated events and transactions up to 9 
0D\������IRU�SRWHQWLDO�UHFRJQLWLRQ�RU�GLVFORVXUH�LQ�WKH�ȴQDQFLDO�
statements. No subsequent events have been recognized or 
disclosed. 

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as of 31 December 2017 consist of:

2017 2016
AS AT  

1 JAN 2016
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Cash and Bank 
accounts in USD

14,753 9,892 12,041

Cash and Bank 
accounts in EUR

498 943 146

TOTAL 15,251 10,835 12,187

5. RECEIVABLE
Receivable - Donor

Receivables from donors consist of claims for expenses paid on 
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behalf of restricted projects in excess of the amount received and 
amounts receivable from donors towards loan interest payable. 
There were no amounts receivable from donors for claim for 
expenses paid on on behalf of restricted projects. Amounts  
receivable towards loan interest payable amounts to USD 3,122k. 
Donor receivables as at 31 December 2017 amounts to USD 
3,122k  (2016: USD 9k at 1.1.2016 USD 5,127k).

Receivable - Other

Other receivable of USD 92k consists mainly of VAT receivable 
in the amount of USD 57k received as at March 2018, and a 
formation capital loan of USD 28k made by the Crop Trust to its 
German charitable organization, Crop Trust Foundation gGmbH.

The following table provides the detail of receivables as at 31 
December 2017, 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2016. 

2017 2016
AS AT  

1 JAN 2016
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Receivable Donor  

Australian Centre 
for International 
Agricultural 

- - 7

Bioversity/CGIAR - 9 5,120

Government of 
Germany

3,122 - -

Receivable Donor 3,122 9 5,127

Other  

VAT receivable 57 24 11

Other 35 33 9

Receivable - Other 92 57 20

TOTAL 3,214 66 5,147

7KH�&URS�7UXVW�GRHV�QRW�KDYH�DQ\�VLJQLȴFDQW�FUHGLW�ULVN�H[SRVXUH�
as amounts receivable consist primarily of tax receivables and a 
formation capital loan to the Crop Trust Foundation. 

6. PREPAID EXPENSES
Total prepaid expenses as at 31 December 2017 amount to USD 
943k (2016: USD 778k; at 1.1.2016 USD 191k). Included in this 
balance is the amount of USD 866k for Genebank Equipment 
committed and paid but not yet delivered, USD 55k which 
represents a prepayment to Zurich for Disability, Life and Health 
insurance premium for 2018 and USD 22k with respect to prepaid 
expenses. Included in 2016 prepaid expenses was USD 702k for 
Genebank Equipment to AfricaRice which was committed and 
paid in 2016 and delivered to the new AfricaRice genebank in 
2017.

2017 2016
AS AT  

1 JAN 2016
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Prepaid Expenses

Grants 866 702 146

Supplies & Services 77 76 45

TOTAL 943 778 191

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
In 2017 the Crop Trust purchased computer equipment 
amounting to USD 21k. Before this time the Crop Trust did not 
have property, plant or equipment over USD 2k per item and 
these costs were expensed.
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2017
USD’000

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

At 1 January 2016

Cost -

Accumulated amortization -
Net book value -

At 31 December 2016

Opening net book amount -
Additions -

Depreciation Charge -

Net book value -

At 31 December 2017

Opening net book amount -

Additions 21

Depreciation Charge (3)

Net book value 18

At 31 December 2017

Cost 21
Accumulated depreciation (3)

NET BOOK VALUE 18

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets as at 31 December 2017 consist of website 
development expenditure. Amortization is included under 
management and general expenses in the Statement of Activities.
 
 

TOTAL
USD’000

INTANGIBLE ASSET

At 1 January 2016

Cost 69

Accumulated amortization (23)
Net book value 46

At 31 December 2016

Opening net book amount 46
Amortization charge (23)

Net book value 23

At 31 December 2016

Cost 69

Accumulated amortization (46)

Net book value 23

At 31 December 2017                             18    

Opening net book amount 23

Amortization charge (23)
Net book value -

At 31 December 2017

Cost 69
Accumulated amortization (69)

NET BOOK VALUE -
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9. PAYABLE
This balance consists mainly of amounts relating to global system 
development genebank grants payable to genebanks in support 
of project activities and genebank operations. The amounts 
payable at the year-end in respect of global system development 
genebank grants, represents grants and contributions received 
in advance not yet disbursed. Grants in advance with respect 
to Genebanks amount to USD 11,490k (2016: USD 3,086k at 
1.1.2016 USD 7,122k) and these will be disbursed in early 2018.

The following table provides the detail of accounts payable as at 
31 December 2017, 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2016.

2017 2016
AS AT  

1 JAN 2016
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Grants in Advance
Global system 
development genebank 
grants

11,490 3,086 7,122

Other program grants - 4 4

Total 11,490 3,090 7,126

Other
Supplies & services 211 293 158
Interst on loan payable 104 - -
Total 315 293 158

TOTAL 11,805 3,383 7,284

10. DEFERRED INCOME 
Deferred Income consists mainly of amounts received at the year-
end in respect of temporary restricted grants not yet disbursed 
and grants relating to loan interest not yet released. The total in 
relation to temporarily restricted grants amounts to USD 2,798k 
(2016: USD 2,379k; at 1.1.2016 USD 4,379k). The total relating to 
the  loan interest grant amounts to USD 5,149k see note 13 for 
further information. 

The following table provides details of deferred income as at 31 
December 2017, 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2016.

2017 2016
AS AT  

1 JAN 2016
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 

Temporarily 
restricted grants

2,798 2,379 4,379

Grant for Loan 
interest 

5,149 - -

Other 23 41 47

TOTAL 7,970 2,420 4,426

11. ACCRUALS 
The following table provide details of accruals as at 31 December 
2017, 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2016.

2017 2016
AS AT  

1 JAN 2016
USD'000 USD'000 USD'000

(PSOR\HH�EHQHȴW�
payable

173 94 60

Accruals 85 65 95

TOTAL 258 159 155

Accruals include an amount for services received during 2017 of 
USD 85k (2016: USD 65k; at 1.1.2016 USD 95k) as well as other 
DFFUXDOV�DQG�GHIHUUHG�LQFRPH��(PSOR\HH�EHQHȴW�SD\DEOH�FRQVLVWV�
of accrued leave obligations and amounts payable for employee 
pension contributions for the month of December 2017. The 
pension contribution payable amounts to USD 43k and relates 
to amounts due to the pension provider Zurich for employee 
GHȴQHG�EHQHȴW� FRQWULEXWLRQV� WKDW�ZHUH�KHOG�E\� WKH�&URS�7UXVW�
as the scheme was in the process of being transferred from 
LaMondiale to Zurich in December 2017. These funds will be paid 
to Zurich once the scheme is established in March 2018.

12. PROVISIONS
A provision for repatriation has been calculated based on the 
HVWLPDWHG� FRVWV� RI� UHSDWULDWLQJ�SURIHVVLRQDO� JUDGH� OHYHO� VWD΍� WR�
WKHLU� KRPH� FRXQWULHV� DV� VSHFLȴHG� LQ� WKHLU� DSSRLQWPHQW� OHWWHUV��
The liability has been split between short term and long-term 
provisions in the Statement of Financial Position with short term 
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representing all obligations resulting from contracts that are 
ending within the next twelve months and long term those over 
twelve months.

In 2017 the repatriation provision increased by USD 49k (2016: 
USD 7k) represented by a reduction in short term provisions of 
USD 49k and an increase in long term provisions of USD 98K. 
This movement is recognized as an expense in the Statement 
of Activities and as an increase in liabilities in the Statement of 
Financial Positon.

The table below provides details of provisions as at 31 December 
2017, 31 December 2016 and at 1 January 2016.

SHORT 
TERM 

PROVISION

LONG 
TERM 

PROVISION TOTAL
 USD'000  USD'000 USD'000

At 1 January 2016

Opening balance - - -

Additions 81 92 173

Balance as at 1 
January 2016 81 92 173

At 31 December 
2016

Additon - 19 19

Release (12) �b (12)

Balance as at 31 
December 2016 69 111 180

At 31 December 
2017 -

Addition �b ��b 98

Release (49) - (49)

BALANCE AS AT 
31 DECEMBER 
2017

20 209 229

13. BORROWINGS
On 12 October 2017 the Crop Trust signed a concessional loan 
agreement with KfW, a development bank existing under the 
laws of the Federal Republic of Germany, for EUR 50,000k (USD 
58,047k) to contribute to the capitalization of the Endowment 
Fund of the Crop Trust and ultimately to contribute to long term 
food security by conserving and using plant genetic resources. 
7KH�ORDQ�WHUP�LV����\HDUV�ZLWK�D�JUDFH�SHULRG�RI�ȴYH�\HDUV�EHIRUH�
loan repayments are due. The interest rate on the loan is 1.39%, 
however a grant from BMZ, the German Federal Ministry for 
Economic Co-operation and Development, of EUR 4,150k to repay 
the interest, and a contribution of EUR 225k from the Government 
RI�WKH�1HWKHUODQGV�UHGXFHV�WKH�UDWH�WR�DQ�H΍HFWLYH�LQWHUHVW�UDWH�RI�
0.5% over the course of the loan.

The loan is recognized as a liability in the Statement of Financial 
Position. The grants from BMZ and the Government of the 
Netherlands towards the loan interest are recognized as deferred 
income. Net grant receivable at year end has been recognized as 
a receivable in the Statement of Financial Positon.

ΖQWHUHVW� IRU� WKH�SHULRG� LV� UHFRJQL]HG� DV� D� ȴQDQFLQJ� H[SHQVH� LQ�
the Statement of Activities and the corresponding amount is 
released from deferred income and recognised as revenue in the 
Statement of Activites. 

As a part of the year-end currency revaluation, foreign exchange 
losses amount to USD 1,993k and are recognized in the Statement 
RI�$FWLYLWLHV�DQG�LV�UHȵHFWHG�LQ�WKH�\HDU�HQG�YDOXH�IRU�WKH�ORDQ�RI�
USD 60,040k

14. RELATED PARTIES
In accordance with IAS24 an entity is related to a reporting entity 
if, among other circumstances, it is a parent, subsidiary, fellow 
subsidiary, associate, or joint venture of the reporting entity, or 
LW� LV� FRQWUROOHG�� MRLQWO\� FRQWUROOHG�� RU� VLJQLȴFDQWO\� LQȵXHQFHG� RU�
managed by a person who is a related party. The following are 
related parties to the Crop Trust in accordance with IFRS (IAS24).

1. Friends of Global Crop Diversity Limited, a US 501(c)3 public 
charity incorporated in the State of Delaware in 2005, is 
RUJDQL]HG� RQ� D� QRQ�SURȴW�� QRQ�VWRFN� EDVLV� DQG� GRHV� QRW�
have the authority to issue any capital stock. The corporation 
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is represented by three Directors and was established for 
the following purposes:

• 7R�SURYLGH�ȴQDQFLDO�DVVLVWDQFH�WR�HQVXUH�WKH�ORQJ�WHUP�
conservation and availability of plant genetic resources 
for food and agriculture for global food security

• To promote the objectives and purposes of the Crop 
Trust; and

• To solicit and receive funds and other property for 
the purpose of providing assistance to achieve these 
objectives.

During the period, Friends of Global Crop Diversity Limited 
disbursed USD 23,023 to the Crop Trust to support the 
GHYHORSPHQW�RI�D�&R΍HH�&RQVHUYDWLRQ�6WUDWHJ\�DQG�WR�IXQG�WKH�
shipment of seeds to the Svalbard Global Seed Vault.

2. Crop Trust Foundation gGmbH is a charitable organization 
established in 2017 under German law with a registered 
RɝFH�LQ�%RQQ��*HUPDQ\��ΖW�LV�UHSUHVHQWHG�E\�WKH�&URS�7UXVW�
as the only shareholder, and by two Directors. The gGmbH 
pursues charitable purposes and has tax-privileged status. 
The purpose of the gGmbH is to support activities related 
to environmental protection, science and development 
cooperation. This purpose is achieved by fundraising 
DFWLYLWLHV� WR� WKH� H[FOXVLYH� EHQHȴW� RI� WKH� &URS� 7UXVW�� 7KH�
Crop Trust made a formation capital loan of USD 28k to the 
Crop Trust Foundation gGmbH in January 2017 and this is 
recorded as an account receivable by the Crop Trust at 31 
December 2017.

Based on materiality considerations the Crop Trust is not 
SUHSDULQJ�FRQVROLGDWHG�ȴQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��

3. Key Management personnel compensation
Key management personnel are those persons having 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Crop Trust. The Crop Trust’s 
“key management personnel” are members of the senior 
management team. 

The total remuneration for key management personnel for the 
year 2017 amounted to USD 1,142k (2016: USD 1,244k).  

The following table provide details of key management personnel 
remuneration as at 31 December 2017, 31 December 2016 and 
1 January 2016.

2017 2016
AS AT 1 JAN 

2016
USD'000 USD'000 USD'000

Short-term 
HPSOR\HH�EHQHȴWV

1,142 1,244 1,342

/RQJ�WHUP�EHQHȴWV 67 23 40

TOTAL 1,209 1,267 1,382

Transactions between the Crop Trust, related parties and 
key management personnel were made on an arm’s-length 
transaction basis.

15. NET ASSET BALANCES
5HVRXUFHV�DUH�FODVVLȴHG�IRU�DFFRXQWLQJ�DQG�UHSRUWLQJ�SXUSRVHV�
into net asset classes according to the restriction imposed. 

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Crop Trust manages an endowment fund, which is used 
WR� IXQG� WKH� H΍HFWLYH� FRQVHUYDWLRQ� DQG� UHDG\� DYDLODELOLW\� RI� WKH�
biological basis of agriculture. An endowment fund provides a 
SHUPDQHQW� VRXUFH�RI� ȴQDQFLDO� VXSSRUW�PDWFKLQJ� WKH� ORQJ�WHUP�
nature of conservation with long-term secure and sustainable 
funding.

Funds are invested in accordance with Investment Objectives 
and Policies approved by the Executive Board. The Finance and 
Investment Committee implements the investment strategy 
adopted by the Executive Board. Following a tender process for 
investment management services in early 2016, the Crop Trust 
appointed two investment managers to manage the endowment 
funds - Mercer Global Investments Europe Limited, based in 
London, and Deutsche Asset Management International GmbH, 
based in Frankfurt. 

7KH� &URS� 7UXVW� LV� DQ� RɝFLDO� VLJQDWRU\� WR� WKH� 8QLWHG� 1DWLRQV�
Principles for Responsible Investment (UNPRI), an international 
framework for incorporating sustainability into investment 
decision-making. The Crop Trust is actively working with its 
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LQYHVWPHQW�PDQDJHUV�WR�ȴQG�DUHDV�LQ�ZKLFK�WKH�8135Ζ�SULQFLSOHV�
can be further integrated into the decision making, manager 
selection and due diligence processes of the Crop Trust. In 
addition, the Executive Board of the Crop Trust has approved 
the incorporation of UNPRI factors into its investment policy 
statement to ensure that it addresses risks and opportunities 
of Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) factors in the 
management of the Crop Trust’s assets and has approved a 
Responsible Investment Policy to align its investment strategy with 
its core mission.

7KH�YDOXH�RI�WKH�ȴQDQFLDO�DVVHWV�DW�\HDU�HQG�ZDV�86'��������N�
which represents amounts held in both the USD and EUR 
endowment funds including amounts to be withdrawn to cover 
permanently restricted expenditures. The EUR endowment fund 
holds the value of the loan received in 2017 in the amount of USD 
58,047k together with grants received to cover interest payments 
on this loan.  The loan is recognized as a non-current liability, 
contributions towards the loan interest are recorded as deferred 
income and all other contributions, fees and gains/losses are 
reported as an increase or decrease in the Statement of Activities.

The amount to be withdrawn of USD 4,250k has been recognized 
as current assets and the remaining balance of USD 285,025k 
have been recognized as non-current asset in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

The following schedule represents the composition of the market 
value of the endowment fund including amounts held in trust in 
the form of cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2017, 
31 December 2016 and 1January 2016.

EUR 
(QGRZPHQW�
Fund

2017 2016
AS AT 1 JAN 

2016
USD'000 USD'000 USD'000

Equities 9,288 - -

Bonds 52,634 - -
Cash 270 - -

TOTAL 62,192 - -

GRAND TOTAL 289,275 187,963 157,402

The permanently restricted net assets at year-end of USD 
222,827k (31 December 2016: USD 187,963k) represent the 
amounts held in the USD endowment fund together with net 
gains of the EUR endowment fund. That is, the principal together 
with interest earned, changes in market value less management 
fees and income released - and cash and cash equivalents. The 
movements are reported in the Statement of Activities.

USD 
(QGRZPHQW�
Fund

2017 2016
AS AT 1 JAN 

2016
USD'000 USD'000 USD'000

Equities 136,747 85,388 67,317

Bonds 64,311 56,300 58,932

Hedge Funds 12,149 26,588 -

Commodities 2,536 3,063 3,992

Convertibles 8,103 - -

Private Markets 2,444 2,421 -

Cash 793 14,203 27,161

TOTAL 227,083 187,963 157,402
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The following table provides an analysis of changes to the Financial 
Assets during the year. 

USD ENDOWMENT 
FUND   NOTE

2017
 USD'000 

2016
 USD'000 

BALANCE AS AT 1 
JANUARY     187,963 157,376

Contribution 1 13,093 23,974

Endowment Fund 
Gain/(Loss) 2 29,631 10,192

Management Fees (1,172) (1,129)

Withdrawal 3 (6,682) (2,450)

Total movement 34,870 30,587

Short-Term Financial 
Assets 4,250 -

BALANCE AS AT 
31 DECEMBER          227,083 187,963

EUR ENDOWMENT 
FUND

  NOTE 2017 2016
 USD'000  USD'000 

BALANCE AS AT 1 
JANUARY     - -

Contribution from 
borrowings 4 58,047 -

Contribution to Loan 
Interest 1 2,262 -

Endwoment fund 
Gain/(Loss) 2 20 -

Loan interest 1 (104)

FX revaluation gains/
(loss) 1,967 b�

Total movement 62,192 -

BALANCE AS AT 
31 DECEMBER          62,192 -

GRAND TOTAL     289,275 187,963

Notes:

1. Contribution represents donations received from donors 
during the year towards the USD endowment fund and 
donations received towards the loan interest payable.

2. Endowment fund gain represents the change in the market 
YDOXH�RI� WKH� IXQG�DQG� LV� UHSRUWHG�DV� ȴQDQFH� LQFRPH�� 7KLV�
represents an unrealized gain as at 31 December 2017.

3. The Investment Objectives and Policies of the Crop Trust 
relating to the USD endowment fund permit the annual 
withdrawal of up to 4% of the average market value of the 
fund over the previous twelve quarters. 

4. Contribution from borrowings represents the loan received 
from KfW in 2017.

17. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset 
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date (ie an exit price).

The assets in the endowment funds of the Crop Trust are measured 
and recognized at fair value. In determining fair value, the Fund 
uses valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable 
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The 
valuation techniques used by the Fund to determine fair value are 
consistent with the market or income approaches. The fair value 
is determined based on assumptions that market participants 
use in pricing an asset or liability in the market. When considering 
market participant assumptions in fair value measurements, the 
following fair value hierarchy distinguishes between observable 
and unobservable inputs, which are categorized in one of the 
following levels prescribed under the accounting standard on fair 
value hierarchy disclosure: 

Level 1: Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Fund has the 
DELOLW\�WR�DFFHVV��7KH�IDLU�YDOXH�RI�ȴQDQFLDO�DVVHWV�WUDGHG�LQ�DFWLYH�
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and 
available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at 
the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for 
ȴQDQFLDO�DVVHWV�KHOG�LV�WKH�FXUUHQW�ELG�SULFH��7KHVH�LQVWUXPHQWV�
are included in level 1.
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Level 2: Valuations based on inputs, other than quoted 
prices included in level 1, that are observable either directly or 
LQGLUHFWO\��7KH�IDLU�YDOXH�RI�ȴQDQFLDO�DVVHWV�WKDW�DUH�QRW�WUDGHG�LQ�
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is 
determined using valuation techniques which maximize the use 
of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-
VSHFLȴF�HVWLPDWHV��ΖI�DOO�VLJQLȴFDQW�LQSXWV�UHTXLUHG�WR�IDLU�YDOXH�DQ�
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and 
VLJQLȴFDQW�WR�WKH�RYHUDOO�IDLU�YDOXH�PHDVXUHPHQW��ΖI�RQH�RU�PRUH�RI�
WKH�VLJQLȴFDQW�LQSXWV�LV�QRW�EDVHG�RQ�REVHUYDEOH�PDUNHW�GDWD��WKH�
instrument is included in level 3. 

9DOXDWLRQ�WHFKQLTXHV�XVHG�WR�GHWHUPLQH�IDLU�YDOXHV

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value 
measurement is categorized in its entirety is determined on 
WKH� EDVLV� RI� WKH� ORZHVW� OHYHO� LQSXW� WKDW� LV� VLJQLȴFDQW� WR� WKH� IDLU�
YDOXH� PHDVXUHPHQW�� )RU� WKLV� SXUSRVH�� WKH� VLJQLȴFDQFH� RI� DQ�
input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its 
entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that 
UHTXLUH� VLJQLȴFDQW� DGMXVWPHQW� EDVHG� RQ� XQREVHUYDEOH� LQSXWV��
that measurement is a Level 3 measurement. Assessing the 
VLJQLȴFDQFH�RI�D�SDUWLFXODU� LQSXW� WR� WKH� IDLU�YDOXH�PHDVXUHPHQW�
LQ�LWV�HQWLUHW\�UHTXLUHV�MXGJHPHQW��FRQVLGHULQJ�IDFWRUV�VSHFLȴF�WR�
the asset or liability.

The determination of what constitutes “observable” requires 
VLJQLȴFDQW� MXGJPHQW�� 7KH� RUJDQL]DWLRQ� FRQVLGHUV� REVHUYDEOH�
data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly 
GLVWULEXWHG� RU� XSGDWHG�� UHOLDEOH� DQG� YHULȴDEOH�� QRW� SURSULHWDU\��
and provided by independent sources that are actively involved 
in the relevant market.

For each class of assets and liabilities not measured at fair value 
in the Statement of Financial Position but for which fair value is 
disclosed, IFRS 13 requires the organization to disclose the level 
within the fair value hierarchy which the fair value measurement 
would be categorized and a description of the valuation technique 
and inputs used in the technique.

Cash and cash equivalents include deposits held with banks 
and other short-term investments in an active market and are 

categorized as Level 1. 

Pooled investment vehicles that do not have a quoted price 
RQ� D� UHFRJQL]HG� VWRFN� H[FKDQJH� DUH� FODVVLȴHG� DV� /HYHO� ��� 7KH�
underlying assets of the pooled fund may be judged to belong 
to Level 1, for example, the equity funds however, due to the 
understanding that the level should be applied to the unit holding 
in the pooled fund, this would classify the equity funds as Level 2. 
Where funds comprise of collective investment schemes and not 
segregated investments and the underlying assets can be classed 
DV�/HYHO���RU���DVVHWV�WKH\�ZLOO�EH�FODVVLȴHG�DV�/HYHO�����

If no trade prices are available, prices are determined with the aid 
of valuation models which are agreed between the custodian and 
the investment company and are based as far as possible on the 
market parameters. 

The Fund’s assets and liabilities recorded at fair value have been 
categorized based upon a fair value hierarchy as described above. 

The following tables presents the composition of the endowment 
fund including amounts held in trust in the form of cash and cash 
equivalents measured at fair value as of December 31 2016 and 
31 December 2017 (in thousands).
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 LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL
USD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000

USD ENDOWMENT FUND PORTFOLIO
At 31 Dec 2016

Financial 
assets at FVPL*

Equities 18,455 66,933 - 85,388

Bonds 1,994 54,306 - 56,300

Hedge Funds 16,469 - 10,119 26,588
Commodities - 3,063 - 3,063

Private Markets - - 2,421 2,421
Cash & Other 14,203 - - 14,203

7RWDO�ȴQDQFLDO�
assets 51,121 124,302 12,540 187,963

USD ENDOWMENT FUND PORTFOLIO
At 31 Dec 2017

Financial 
assets at FVPL*

Equities 26,635 110,112 - 136,747

Bonds / Credit 14,614 49,697 - 64,311
Hedge Funds - 1,544 10,605 12,149
Commodities - 2,536 - 2,536
Convertibles - 8,103 - 8,103
Private Markets - - 2,444 2,444
Cash & Other 793 - - 793

7RWDO�ȴQDQFLDO�
assets 42,042 171,992 13,049 227,083

EUR ENDOWMENT FUND PORTFOLIO
At 31 Dec 2017

Financial 
assets at FVPL*

Equities - 9,288 - 9,288
Bonds - 52,634 - 52,634
Cash & Other 270 - - 270

7RWDO�ȴQDQFLDO�
assets 270 61,922 - 62,192

GRAND TOTAL 
2017 42,312    233,914 13,049 289,275


)93/�Ȃ�FKDQJHV�LQ�IDLU�YDOXH�DUH�UHFRJQL]HG�LQ�SURȴW�DQG�ORVV��6WDWHPHQW�RI�
Activities) as they arise

 

Level 3 Fair Value measurements 

The use of valuation techniques for Level 3 investments involve 
consideration of whether discounts or premiums, if any, are to 
be applied to the net asset value of the underlying collective 
LQYHVWPHQW�VFKHPH��1R�VLJQLȴFDQW�SUHPLXPV�RU�GLVFRXQWV�KDYH�
been applied to the net asset value at 31 December 2017, or 31 
December 2016.

7KH� LQYHVWPHQWV� DUH� FODVVLȴHG� DV� /HYHO� �� GXH� WR� WKH� LQKHUHQW�
nature of these investments (i.e. side-pockets, funds with 
restricted liquidity and the fact that some of the inputs into the 
valuation were not observable on the market). 

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 items for the 
periods ending 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.

HEDGE 
FUND

USD’000

PRIVATE 
MARKET

USD’000

Opening Balance 1 January 2016 -  - 

Acquisition 9,983 2,478

Gains / (Losses) recognized in 
permanent net asset

136 (57)

Closing balance as  
at 31 December 2016

10,119 2,421

Acquisitions 13  - 

Gains recognized in permanent net 
asset*

473 23

Closing balance as  
at 31 December 2017

10,605 2,444


�LQFOXGHV�XQUHDOL]HG�JDLQV�RU��ORVVHV��UHFRJQL]HG�LQ�SURȴW�RU�ORVV�DWWULEXWDEOH�WR�
balances held at the end of the reporting periods

There were no transfers to other levels in the fair value heirarchy 
in 2017. There is an acquisition included in the amount of USD 
13k in hedge funds. 

The private market investments included in the majority of 
FROOHFWLYH� LQYHVWPHQW� VFKHPHV� FODVVLȴHG� LQ� /HYHO� �� KDYH� EHHQ�
valued on the basis of the net asset value (NAV) of the underlying 
fund without adjustment, which the Directors believe is an 
DSSURSULDWH�PHDVXUHPHQW�RI�IDLU�YDOXH�DV�DW�WKH�ȴQDQFLDO�SHULRG�
end date.
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In relation to Funds’ invested in Level 3, assuming everything 
remained equal but the NAV prices were changed by 3% then the 
fair value of Level 3 investments would change as outlined in the 
following table.

Fund 2017 2016
 USD'000  USD'000 

Hedge fund 19 16

Private Market 73 71

The Fair value of USD 62,562k of the KfW loan is calculated with 
WKH� DLG� RI� GLVFRXQWHG� FDVK� ȵRZ�PHWKRG� EDVHG� RQ� REVHUYDEOH�
LQWHUHVW� UDWHV� DQG�H[FKDQJH� UDWHV� DQG� DFFRUGLQJO\� FODVVLȴHG� DV�
Level 2 instrument.

For cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables the 
carrying amounts approximate fair value, because of the short 
maturity of these instruments, and therefore fair value information 
is not included in the notes. 

18. RISK MANAGEMENT
As an international organization, the Crop Trust is exposed to 
ȴQDQFLDO�ULVNV�LQ�WKH�QRUPDO�FRXUVH�RI�EXVLQHVV��$�PDMRU�REMHFWLYH�
of the organization’s policy is to minimize the impact of market, 
liquidity and default risks on the value of the organization in order 
WR�DYRLG�DGYHUVH�ȵXFWXDWLRQV�LQ�FDVK�ȵRZV�DQG�HDUQLQJV�ZLWKRXW�
IRUJRLQJ�WKH�RSSRUWXQLW\�WR�EHQHȴW�IURP�SRVLWLYH�PDUNHW�WUHQGV��
)RU�WKLV�SXUSRVH��D�V\VWHPDWLF�ȴQDQFLDO�ULVN�PDQDJHPHQW�V\VWHP�
has been established. Interest rate and exchange rate risks are 
managed in accordance with established corporate policies. 

Market risk

Market risk can be subdivided into exchange rate, interest 
rate and commodity/other price risk. The organization’s risk 
PDQDJHPHQW� LV� FDUULHG� RXW� E\� WKH� ȴQDQFH� GHSDUWPHQW� XQGHU�
policies approved by the Finance and Investment Committee 
DQG� WKH� ([HFXWLYH� %RDUG� RI� 'LUHFWRUV�� 7KH� ȴQDQFH� GHSDUWPHQW�
works in close collaboration with the investment fund managers 
WR�LGHQWLI\��HYDOXDWH�DQG�PDQDJH�ȴQDQFLDO�ULVNV��7KH�PDQDJHPHQW�
of these risks is explained below.

Exchange Rate Risk 

Exchange rate risk arises from future commercial transactions and 
recognized asset and liabilities denominated in a currency that is 
not the functional currency of the organization. To the extent that 
DVVHWV�DUH�GHQRPLQDWHG�LQ�D�GL΍HUHQW�FXUUHQF\��RU�LQ�FXUUHQFLHV�
LQ�GL΍HUHQW�SURSRUWLRQV��FRPSDUHG�WR�H[SHFWHG�VSHQGLQJ��WKHUH�
is a risk that adverse currency moves could impact the ability of 
the Crop Trust to meet its obligations. The Crop Trust values its 
assets and considers its risk in USD terms as the Crop Trust has a 
global remit and spending can be made in a variety of currencies. 
The Crop Trust holds endowment funds in USD and EUR with the 
objective of minimizing its currency risk exposure. Spending from 
the Funds is predominantly in the currency of the fund. The Crop 
7UXVW�DLPV�WR�PDLQWDLQ�ZHOO�GLYHUVLȴHG�SRUWIROLRV�E\�FXUUHQF\�DQG�
GRHV�QRW�FRQVLGHU� LW� FRVW�H΍HFWLYH� WR�KHGJH�FXUUHQF\�H[SRVXUH�
(for example, into USD).

The exchange rate risks associated with the concessional loan 
LQFOXGH�WKH�ULVN�WKDW�LQYHVWPHQWV�GR�QRW�NHHS�SDFH�ZLWK�LQȵDWLRQ�
or the risk of a mismatch between the currency of debt service 
obligations and of the currency of invested loan principal 
and associated investment returns. The EUR denominated 
concessional loan is expected to be repaid with receipts from 
the EUR denominated endowment fund. The loan proceeds and 
interest subsidies have been invested within a separate EUR 
investment fund which mitigates the currency risk by matching 
the currency of the loan and its debt service obligations to 
the currency of the invested assets and to the corresponding 
investment income. In addition, net income generated by the 
investment in the separate EUR investment fund could be used 
in full, with no further currency risks attached, to support the 
operational expenses of the Crop Trust secretariat in EUR.

The table below summarizes the impact of the increase or 
decrease in EUR-USD exchange rate by 10 percent on total net 
asset as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 are as 
follows:
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Exchange Rate Risk
IMPACT ON TOTAL 

NET ASSET

2017 2016
USD'000 USD'000

EUR-USD exchange rate - increase 
10%*

1,128 219

EUR-USD exchange rate - decrease 
10%*

(1,933) (752)

*Holding all other variables constant

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate management protects net income from the negative 
H΍HFWV�RI�ȵXFWXDWLRQV�LQ�PDUNHW�LQWHUHVW�UDWHV��ΖQWHUHVW�UDWH�ULVN�LV�
PDQDJHG�E\�XVLQJ�GHULYDWLYH�DQG�QRQ�GHULYDWLYH�ȴQDQFLDO�DVVHWV��
7KH�DLP� LV� WR�DFKLHYH�DQ�DSSURSULDWH�UDWLR�RI�ȴ[HG�DQG�YDULDEOH�
rates taking costs and risk into account.

The Crop Trust’s main interest rate risks arise from long-term 
investments in the endowment funds, one of which holds the EUR 
concessional loan. The Crop Trust manages the risk associated 
with the loan by investing the loan proceeds in order to earn 
an expected average investment return of approximately 3.0% 
p.a. The net annual margin of ca. 2.0% between the expected 
investment return and the loan interest allow the Crop Trust to 
EXLOG�D�ȴQDQFLDO�EX΍HU�WR�SURWHFW�LWVHOI�DJDLQVW�D�SRVVLEOH�VKRUWIDOO�
of investment income against the interest to be paid to the 
OHQGHU�� 7KH� ORDQ�SHULRG�RI���� \HDUV�SURYLGHV�D� VXɝFLHQWO\� ORQJ�
investment horizon to accommodate possible short-term capital 
market volatility without jeopardizing the long-term investment 
performance of the invested loan principal. In addition, the loan 
KDV� D� ȴ[HG� LQWHUHVW� UDWH� IRU� WKH� IXOO� WHUP� RI� WKH� ORDQ�� WKHUHE\�
providing a predictable cost structure. 

The interest rate risk of the USD endowment fund is managed 
E\�PDLQWDLQLQJ�D�ZHOO�GLYHUVLȴHG�SRUWIROLR��7KH�IXQG�LV�H[SRVHG�WR�
interest rate risk due to the pooled funds and also to overseas 
interest rate risk as part of the investment strategy is to invest 
JOREDOO\� WR�DGG�YDOXH�� ΖQ�DGGLWLRQ� WR�PDLQWDLQLQJ�ZHOO�GLYHUVLȴHG�
portfolios in the two dominant currencies of the Crop Trust’s 
operation,interest rate risk is also managed by entering into 
operational contracts in the currencies of the underlying 
expenditure involved, that is, USD or EUR to reduce exposure to 
LQWHUHVW�UDWH�ȵXFWXDWLRQV�

The table below summarizes the impact of an increase or 
decrease in USD interest rates by 1 percent on total net asset 
as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 are as follows:

Interest Rate Risk
IMPACT ON TOTAL 

NET ASSET

2017 2016
USD'000 USD'000

USD interest rate - increase 1%* (1,317) (995)

USD interest rate - decrease 1%* 1,533 1,156

*Holding all other variables constant

The table below summarizes the impact of an increase or decrease 
in USD interest rates by 5 percent on net assets. The price risks of 
the bonds relates primarily to the interest risk whereas credit risk 
has no material impact.

Price Risk
IMPACT ON TOTAL 

NET ASSET

2017 2016
USD'000 USD'000

Bond price - increase 5%* 2,965 2,440

Bond price - decrease 5%* (2,965) (2,440)
*Holding all other variables constant

Commodity / Other Price Risk

Commodity price risk is the volatility in fair value due to the price 
ȵXFWXDWLRQ��&RPPRGLW\�ULVN�D΍HFWV�YDULRXV�VHFWRUV�RI�WKH�PDUNHW�
DV�D�FRPPRGLW\ȇV�SULFH�LV�D΍HFWHG�E\�SROLWLFV��VHDVRQDO�FKDQJHV��
technology and current market conditions. Other price risk is the 
ULVN�WKDW�WKH�IDLU�YDOXH�RI�HTXLWLHV�ZLOO�ȵXFWXDWH�EHFDXVH�RI�FKDQJHV�
in market price. 

The Crop Trust manages price risk exposure by constructing 
a diverse portfolio of investments across various markets and 
JHRJUDSKLHV��'LYHUVLȴFDWLRQ�RI�WKH�SRUWIROLR�LV�GRQH�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�
with the limits set by the organization.

The table below summarises the impact of an increase/decrease 
in equity prices by 5 percent on total net asset. 
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Price risk
IMPACT ON TOTAL 

NET ASSET

2017 2016
USD'000 USD'000

Equity price - increase 5%* 8,258 5,296

Equity price - decrease 5%* (8,138) (5,247)

*Holding all other variables constant

Credit Risk 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, investments, 
UHFHLYDEOHV�� GHULYDWLYHV� DQG� GHSRVLWV� ZLWK� EDQNV� DQG� ȴQDQFLDO�
institutions. The carrying amount of these instruments represents 
the maximum credit risk of the Crop Trust. At the reporting date, 
WKHUH� ZHUH� QR� VLJQLȴFDQW� DUUDQJHPHQWV� ZKLFK� UHGXFHG� WKH�
maximum credit risk.

Credit risk management divides default risks into the categories, 
namely; debtors and creditor risk, country risk and the risk 
RI� GHIDXOW� E\� ȴQDQFLDO� FRXQWHUSDUWLHV�� WKDW� LV�� WKH� ULVN� WKDW� D�
FRXQWHUSDUW\�ZLOO�QRW�IXOȴOO�LWV�FRQWUDFWXDO�REOLJDWLRQV���

The Crop Trust has in place operating procedures with a stringent 
due diligence process for the selection of counterparty before 
HQWHULQJ� LQWR� FRQWUDFWV�� )RU� EDQNV� DQG� ȴQDQFLDO� LQVWLWXWLRQV��
only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of 
“A” are accepted. The debtors and creditor risk control assess 
WKHLU� FUHGLW� TXDOLW\� WDNLQJ� LQWR� DFFRXQW� WKHLU� ȴQDQFLDO� SRVLWLRQ��
past experiences and other factors. Default risks are analyzed 
and monitored continuously with the aid of internal policy and 
procedures and strong reporting and interaction is implemented 
to limit risk exposure.

Country risk is also taken into account for donor agreements so 
that the overall risk assessment considers political risk factors. 
2Q� WKH�EDVLV�RI� WKLV� DQDO\VLV�� VSHFLȴF� WHUPV�DQG� FRQGLWLRQV�DUH�
GHȴQHG� LQ�DJUHHPHQWV�ZLWK�FRQWUDFWLQJ�SDUWLHV��7KH�&URS�7UXVW�
set high standards for the credit worthiness of counterparties. 

The Crop Trust does not anticipate any debtor or creditor default 
as at 31 December 2017. Total “receivable – other” amounts 
to USD 92k as at 31 December 2017 (see note 5 for detail). 
“Receivable – other” does not contain any impairment and are 

not past due. Based on credit history, it is expected that these 
amounts will be received in full. 

The risks associated with the loan are default and erosion risks. 
The risk of (a) not being able to repay the loan principal and/or 
interest due to a lack of funds at the loan repayment due date 
or (b) using endowment funds as ultimate resource to meet 
loan repayment obligations. The Crop Trust will manage this 
risk by restricting its withdrawals from investment income on 
invested loan principal to the actual returns generated minus any 
loan expenses. This will ensure that only actual net investment 
income earned will be withdrawn, therefore protecting against 
withdrawals from invested loan principal. In order to balance 
the level of funds available for investment with the level of funds 
withdrawn for funding Crop Trust’s activity, the interest subsidies 
along with the loan principal have been invested together with 
the interest subsidies being used up gradually by covering a set 
proportion of the periodical interest payments.  

The Crop Trust manages this risk by investing the loan proceeds in 
order to earn an expected average investment return of around 
3.0% p.a. The net annual margin of ca. 2.0% between the expected 
investment return and the loan interest allow the Crop Trust to 
EXLOG�D�ȴQDQFLDO�EX΍HU�WR�SURWHFW�LWVHOI�DJDLQVW�D�SRVVLEOH�VKRUWIDOO�
of investment income and the interest to be paid to lenders. 
7KH� ORDQ� WLPH� KRUL]RQ� RI� ��� \HDUV� SURYLGHV� D� VXɝFLHQWO\� ORQJ�
investment horizon to accommodate possible short-term capital 
market volatility without jeopardizing the long-term investment 
performance of the invested loan principal. 

Liquidity Risk

3UXGHQW�OLTXLGLW\�ULVN�PDQDJHPHQW�LPSOLHV�PDLQWDLQLQJ�VXɝFLHQW�
cash and marketable securities and the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to 
meet obligations when due and to close out market positions. 
Liquidity risk management occurs through business planning to 
HQVXUH�WKDW�WKH�IXQGV�UHTXLUHG�WR�ȴQDQFH�WKH�FXUUHQW�RSHUDWLQJ�
business and current and future investments are available at the 
right time and in the right currency at optimum cost. Liquidity 
requirements for business operations, investments and other 
ȴQDQFLDO�DFWLYLWLHV�DUH�GHULYHG�IURP�ȴQDQFLQJ�VWDWXV�DQG�OLTXLGLW\�
planning, which form part of liquidity risk management. 
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Management set liquidity targets and monitor performance 
against these targets on the basis of cash and cash equivalents 
DQG� H[SHFWHG� FDVK� ȵRZV�� 7KH� OLTXLGLW\� WDUJHW� VHW� IRU� WKH�
endowment fund is 80% redeemable within 3 months under 
normal market conditions and 5% redeemable within 7 days 
under normal market conditions. The fund was within target as 
at 31 December 2017.

The Crop Trust had cash and cash equivalents of USD 19,501k as 
at 31 December 2017. Approximately USD 11,490k of this amount 
will be used to settle grant payables in 2018. In addition, as of 31 
December 2017 the Crop Trust met all payment terms agreed for 
ȴQDQFLDO�OLDELOLWLHV�

7KH� WDEOH� EHORZ� DQDO\VHV� WKH� JURXSȇV� ȴQDQFLDO� OLDELOLWLHV� LQWR�
relevant maturity groupings based on their contractual maturities 
IRU� DOO� QRQ�GHULYDWLYH� ȴQDQFLDO� OLDELOLWLHV� DQG� GHULYDWLYH� ȴQDQFLDO�
assets for which the contractual maturities are essential for an 
XQGHUVWDQGLQJ�RI�WKH�WLPLQJ�RI�WKH�FDVK�ȵRZV�

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
XQGLVFRXQWHG� FDVK� ȵRZV� DV� DW� ��� 'HFHPEHU� ����� DQG� ���
December 2016. 

  

CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
$6�$7����'(&(0%(5������

 
UP TO 1 

YEAR
1-5 

YEARS

MORE 
THAN 5 

YEARS TOTAL
USD,000 USD,000 USD,000 USD,000

Non-derivatives

Payables 3,383 - - 3,383

Accruals 159 - b� 159

Total 
non-derivatives

3,542 0 0 3,452

Derivatives

Trading 
derivatives

10,125 - - 10,125

Total Derivatives 10,125 0 0 10,125

Repayment of contractual obligations, in particular of the KfW 
loan, is ensured by the assets of the endowment fund.

$GGLWLRQDO�ΖQIRUPDWLRQ�RQ�5LVN�0DQDJHPHQW�RI�WKH�
Financial Assets

The Investment Policy Statement (“IPS”), issued by the Executive 
%RDUG� �ȊWKH� %RDUGȋ�� RI� WKH� &URS� 7UXVW�� DɝUPV� WKH� LQYHVWPHQW�
principles that govern decisions about the investment of the 
Crop Trust’s Endowment Fund (“the Fund”). This policy provides 
guidelines for the prudent management of the endowment fund 
of the Crop Trust and prioritizes the preservation of capital ahead 
of maximization of investment returns in order to minimize risk 
exposure.

The investment objective of the USD Fund is to earn returns 
VXɝFLHQW� WR� RXWSDFH� VSHQGLQJ�� PDLQWDLQLQJ� WKH� )XQGȇV� UHDO�
purchasing power over time and, if possible, growing it. With this 
goal in mind and the 4% cap on spending adopted by the Crop 
Trust, the Fund aims to attain an annualized real total return1  of 
at least 4%, net of fees, over rolling ten-year periods.

The investment objective of the EUR Fund is to earn returns which 
exceed loan interest, maintaining the Fund’s real value over time 

CONTRACTUAL MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
$6�$7����'(&(0%(5������

UP TO 1 
YEAR

USD,000

1-5 
YEARS

USD,000

MORE 
THAN 5 

YEARS
USD,000

TOTAL

Non-derivatives

Payables 11,805 - - 11,805

Accruals 258 - - 258

Borrowings - 2,859 57,181 60,040

Total 
non-derivatives

12,063 2,859 57,181 72,103

Derivatives     

Trading derivatives 10,707 - - 10,707

Total Derivatives 10,707 0 0 10,707

1 Real total return is the sum of realized and unrealized capital appreciation (or loss) and income in the form of dividends and interest, DGMXVWHG�IRU�LQȵDWLRQ�DV�PHDVXUHG�E\�WKH�8�6��
Consumer Price Index.
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to cover the loan repayment. The fund aims to earn an expected 
average annual investment return of approximately 3.0%.

A further objective is to align investments to the Crop Trust’s 
core mission to ensure the conservation and availability of crop 
diversity for food security worldwide. The Crop Trust’s Responsible 
Investment Policy was updated in 2017 to include the Crop Trust’s 
Statement of Responsible Investment Beliefs and was approved 
by the Executive Board on 21 March 2018. 

The Endowment Fund achieves its investment objectives above 
within risk levels deemed appropriate by the Finance and 
Investment Committee (FIC) and consistent with the Executive 
Board approved Investment Policy Statement as follows:

(a) Conditional Value at Risk – the forward looking one-year 
conditional value at risk, at a 95% probability level, should be 
less than 30% of the value of the Fund. This risk measures 
the average loss (negative change in market value) over a 
given time horizon and conditional on the event that the loss 
exceeds 95% probability level. As at 31 December 2017, the 
forward-looking year 95% conditional value at risk (cVaR) for 
the entire portfolio was within this range.

(b) On a forward-looking basis, the aim should be to maintain 
the annualized 10-year volatility of the portfolio at no more 
than 15% per annum. As at 31 December 2017, the volatility 
for the entire portfolio was within this range.

The investment performance of the Funds are monitored against 
the investment return objectives, risk tolerances and liquidity 
requirements set out in the Investment Policy Statement. 
Performance reports generated by the Investment Managers are 
consolidated quarterly and reviewed by the FIC. The evaluation 
of overall investment performance results is assessed over 
VLJQLȴFDQWO\� ORQJHU� SHULRGV� RI� WLPH� PHDQW� WR� FDSWXUH� D� IXOO�
economic cycle, such as rolling ten-year periods. 

In addition to the above, risk reporting assesses the additional 
ȴQDQFLDO�ULVNV�LQFXUUHG�E\�WKH�&URS�7UXVW�LQ�SXUVXLQJ�LWV�LQYHVWPHQW�
objectives, as well as analysis of whether the expected returns 
justify the risks taken. In addition to the those covered in note 15 
DERYH�WKHVH�ȴQDQFLDO�ULVNV�LQFOXGH��EXW�DUH�QRW�OLPLWHG�WR�

• Concentration Risk 

The Executive Board recognizes the risks that may arise 
IURP� WKH� ODFN� RI� GLYHUVLȴFDWLRQ� RI� LQYHVWPHQWV�� 7KH�
Investment Managers therefore aim to ensure their asset 
DOORFDWLRQ� UHVXOWV� LQ� DQ� DGHTXDWHO\� GLYHUVLȴHG� SRUWIROLR��
Some investment exposure is obtained via pooled vehicles. 
The concentration risk target of no more than 60% of the 
portfolio held in any single asset class is monitored by 
management.

• Operational Risk

This is the risk of inadequate or failed internal procedures 
and systems, inadequate capacity or external events 
(including legal risks) in the facilitation and administration of 
D�QHZ�W\SH�RI�ȴQDQFLDO�UHVRXUFH��7R�PLWLJDWH�DJDLQVW�WKLV�ULVN��
the Crop Trust conducts periodic assessments of its internal 
capacity as well as the systems and procedures in place. To 
WKLV�H΍HFW��WKH�UHOHYDQW�ULVN�LQGLFDWRUV�UHODWLQJ�WR�WKHVH�LVVXHV�
are integrated into the Crop Trust’s overall institutional risk 
management procedures and policies.

• Donor Liability risks

This is the risk of Crop Trust’s donors being liable for acts 
or obligations of the Crop Trust or to have any actual or 
contingent liability arising out of their donations. This is 
not an actual risk in the Crop Trust’s donors’ case, as the 
acceptance of the loan would not impose any actual or 
contingent liabilities for current or future donors providing 
grant contributions to the Crop Trust. 

• Other risks

7KH�DERYH�ULVNV�UHODWH�WR�WKH�VSHFLȴF�ȴQDQFLDO�ULVNV�WKDW�PD\�
EH�FUHDWHG�E\�ȴQDQFLDO�DVVHWV�DQG�OLDELOLWLHV��7KHUH�DUH�DOVR�
other, general risks that the Crop Trust faces in its normal 
operations, for example, the risk of short-term capital market 
volatility that is inherent in any endowment structure such 
as that of the Crop Trust. These will be mitigated through 
the institutional Risk Management process of the Crop Trust 
and the associated metrics, as adapted to cover the aspects 
related to the loan. 

19. REVENUE AND GAINS
Total revenue and gains recognized in 2017 amount to USD 
45,061k (USD 55,674k in 2016) which includes USD 31,700k (USD 
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31,028k in 2016) released from temporary restrictions. 

The following table provides details of revenue.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2017 2016
USD'000 USD'000

Grant Revenue 31,700 31,028

Contribution to Endowment fund 13,093 23,974

Contribution to loan interest 104 -

Other revenue 13 605

Other miscellaneous income 151 67
TOTAL 45,061 55,674

20. EXPENSE AND LOSSES
Expenses and losses are recorded on an accruals basis in the 
Statement of Activities in the period in which the cost is incurred.

The Crop Trust continued its program of providing long-term 
sustainable funding to the world’s most important collections of 
crop diversity with the help of its donors; collections of banana, 
barley, bean, cassava, chickpea, edible aroids, faba bean, forages, 
grasspea, lentil, maize, pearl millet, rice, sorghum, sweet potato, 
wheat and yam were supported in 2017. 

Program expenses, including personnel costs, increased to USD 
36,757k in 2017 (2016: USD 32,445k) as the Crop Trust continued 
to work with International Genebanks under the new agreement 
with the Consortium of International Agricultural Research 
Centers for the Genebank Platform program and other partners 
including the Norwegian Agency for Development Co-operation, 
WKH� )HGHUDO� 2ɝFH� IRU� $JULFXOWXUH� DQG� )RRG� DQG� WKH� )HGHUDO�
Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development in Germany. 

Management and general and fundraising expenses include 
administrative salaries, travel, institutional communications, 
professional services and IT/Facilities. Expenditure increased from 
USD 1,704k in 2016 to USD 1,777k in 2017.  

As at 31 December 2017 the Crop Trust employed 26 full time 
HTXLYDOHQW� VWD΍�PHPEHUV� ������� ���� DQG� DV� DW� �� -DQXDU\� �����

26.5). Personnel costs for 2017 increased to USD 3,209k (2016: 
USD 2,983k). In the table below personnel costs have been split 
across program direct expenses, management and general 
expenses and fundraising expenses.

The following table provides further details of expenses as at 31 
December 2017 and 31 December 2016.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2017 2016
USD'000 USD'000

Program direct expenses

Conservation grants 6,852 2,588
Global system development grants 26,164 25,843
Personnel expenses 2,323 2,344

Professional services 662 768

Supplies & Services 130 158

Travel 626 744

Total Program direct expenses 36,757 32,445

Management and general 
expenses

Personnel expenses 802 528

Travel 25 32

Governance 175 124

Communications 158 153

Professional services 76 43

Facilities 188 307

Total Management and general 
expenses 1,424 1,187

Fundraising expenses

Personnel expenses 84 111

Travel 109 159

Governance 9 41

Professional services 149 203

Supplies & Services 2 3

Total Fundraising expenses 353 517

GRAND TOTAL 38,534 34,149

 



FINANCIAL

05  FINANCIAL 83

05

  CROP TRUST 2017 ANNUAL REPORT

21. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES
Finance income and expenditure consists of the net gain/(loss) 
on the endowment funds, investment management fees and loan 
interest totalling USD 28,349k in 2017.

2017 2016
USD'000 USD'000

Finance Income

Net gain/(loss) on endowment funds 29,651 10,193

FX revaluation gains 1,967 -

Total Finance income 31,618 10,193

Finance Expenses

FX revaluation (loss) 1,993 -

Investment management fees 1,172 1,130

Interest on loan 104 -

Total Finance expenses 3,269 1,130

GRAND TOTAL 28,349 9,063

22. FINANCIAL STANDARDS ISSUED NOT YET 
EFFECTIVE
The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet 
H΍HFWLYH��XS�WR�WKH�GDWH�RI�LVVXDQFH�RI�WKH�&URS�7UXVWȇV�)LQDQFLDO�
Statements are disclosed below. The Crop Trust intends to adopt 
WKHVH�VWDQGDUGV�LI�DSSOLFDEOH�ZKHQ�WKH\�EHFRPH�H΍HFWLYH�

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments

ΖQ�-XO\�������WKH�Ζ$6%�LVVXHG�WKH�ȴQDO�YHUVLRQ�RI�Ζ)56���)LQDQFLDO�
Instruments that replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 
9. IFRS 9 brings together all three aspects of the accounting 
IRU� ȴQDQFLDO� LQVWUXPHQWV�� FODVVLȴFDWLRQ� DQG� PHDVXUHPHQW��
LPSDLUPHQW�� DQG� KHGJH� DFFRXQWLQJ�� Ζ)56� �� LV� H΍HFWLYH� IRU�
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early 
application permitted. Except for hedge accounting, retrospective 
application is required but providing comparative information 
is not compulsory. For hedge accounting, the requirements are 
generally applied prospectively, with some limited exceptions.

&ODVVLȴFDWLRQ�DQG�PHDVXUHPHQW�

7KH� &URS� 7UXVW� GRHV� QRW� H[SHFW� VLJQLȴFDQW� LPSDFW� RQ� LWV�
EDODQFH� VKHHW� QHW� DVVHWV� ZKHQ� DSSO\LQJ� WKH� FODVVLȴFDWLRQ� DQG�
measurement requirements of IFRS 9. However, the Crop 
7UXVW�ZLOO�DQDO\]H�DOO�ȴQDQFLDO� LQVWUXPHQWV� LQ�PRUH�GHWDLO�EHIRUH�
concluding whether all those instruments meet the criteria for 
amortized cost or fair value measurement under IFRS 9.

Impairment:

IFRS 9 requires the Crop Trust to record expected credit losses, 
either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The Crop Trust does not 
H[SHFW� D� VLJQLȴFDQW� LPSDFW�� EXW� LW�ZLOO� QHHG� WR�SHUIRUP�D�PRUH�
detailed analysis.

Hedge accounting:

IFRS 9 aligns hedge accounting with the risk management 
activities of an entity. It makes some fundamental changes to the 
requirements under IAS 39 by removing or amending some of the 
key prohibitions and rules within this standard. The Crop Trust 
does not expect the changes introduced by IFRS 9 in relation 
WR� KHGJH� DFFRXQWLQJ� WR� LPSDFW� LWȇV� ȴQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV�� 7KHVH�
changes are deemed not relevant for the Crop Trust, however, it 
will assess these changes in more detail in the future. 

Ζ)56����Ȃ�5HYHQXH�IURP�FRQWUDFWV�ZLWK�FXVWRPHUV

IFRS 15 provide guidance on accounting for revenue from 
contracts with customers. It was adopted in 2014. and will 
EHFDPH� H΍HFWLYH� -DQXDU\� ������ Ζ)56� ��� LV� H΍HFWLYH� IRU� DQQXDO�
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with 
earlier application permitted.

IFRS 15 establishes the principles that an entity applies when 
reporting information about the nature, amount, timing and 
XQFHUWDLQW\� RI� UHYHQXH� DQG� FDVK� ȵRZV� IURP� D� FRQWUDFW� ZLWK� D�
customer. IFRS 15 requires an entity to recognises revenue to 
depict the transfer of promised goods or services to the customer 
LQ�DQ�DPRXQW�WKDW�UHȵHFWV�WKH�FRQVLGHUDWLRQ�WR�ZKLFK�WKH�HQWLW\�
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

Measurement:

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable under IFRS15. In most cases, the consideration is in 
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the form of cash or cash equivalents.

7KH� &URS� 7UXVW� GRHV� QRW� H[SHFW� VLJQLȴFDQW� LPSDFW� RQ�
LWV� ȴQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV� DV� D� UHVXOW� RI� � WKH� PHDVXUHPHQW�
requirements of IFRS15 as it does not have trade customers. 

IFRS 16 – Leases 

IFRS 16 was issued by the IASB in January 2016. It will 
replace IAS 17 Lease for reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019. It can be applied before that date by 
entities that also apply IFRS 15 revenue from contracts with 
customers. The Crop Trust does not expect any impact on 
LWȇV� ȴQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV� EHFDXVH� WKH� LW� GRHV� QRW� KROG� DQ\�
VLJQLȴFDQW�OHDVHG�DVVHW�
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2Q�EHKDOI�RI�WKH�([HFXWLYH�%RDUG
9 May 2018

___________________________________________
Marie Haga 
Executive Secretary
    

___________________________________________   
Janet Muir
Director of Finance
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We thank you all for your support, for 
understanding the urgency of safeguarding 
crop diversity, and for sharing our commitment 
to resilient, sustainable agriculture.

6HEDVWLDQ�:LQNOHU
&URS�7UXVW�+HDG�RI�3DUWQHUVKLSV�




